
 

Financial Investment Board 

 
Date: TUESDAY, 9 FEBRUARY 2021 

Time: 1.45 pm 

Venue: https://youtu.be/Nh26BJ3ak2A 

 
Members: Nicholas Bensted-Smith (Chairman) 

Henry Colthurst (Deputy Chairman) 
Anne Fairweather 
Alderman Prem Goyal 
Deputy Tom Hoffman 
Alderman Robert Howard 
Alderman Robert Hughes-Penney 
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark 
Deputy Clare James 
Tim Levene 
Deputy Andrien Meyers 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
James de Sausmarez 
Ian Seaton 
Deputy Philip Woodhouse 
 

 
Next Meetings:  20 May 2021  30 June 2021 14 Sept 2021 
 
Enquiries: Joseph Anstee 

tel. no.: 020 7332 1480 
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe this virtual public meeting at the below link: 

 https://youtu.be/Nh26BJ3ak2A 
This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not take place in a physical 

location following regulations made under Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020. A 
recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of the 
public meeting for up to one municipal year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do 

not constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on 
the City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of 

the proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/Nh26BJ3ak2A
https://youtu.be/Nh26BJ3ak2A


 

AGENDA 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 To agree the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting held on 25 

November 2020. 
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 6) 

 
4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
 Report of the Town Clerk 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 7 - 8) 

 
5. MONTHLY INVESTMENT ANALYSIS REVIEW 
 Report of the Chamberlain 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 9 - 24) 

 
6. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2021/22 
 Report of the Chamberlain 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 25 - 60) 

 
7. REPORT OF ACTION TAKEN 
 Report of the Town Clerk 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 61 - 62) 

 
8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE COMMITTEE 
 
9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act. 

 For Decision 
 



3 
 

Part 2 - Non-Public Agenda 
 
11. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2020. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 63 - 68) 

 
12. NON-PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS 
 Report of the Town Clerk 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 69 - 70) 

 
13. PROGRESS UPDATE ON MOBILISATION FOR THE CLIMATE ACTION 

STRATEGY 
 Report of the Chamberlain 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 71 - 80) 

 
14. RESPONSIBLE INVESTMENT POLICY UPDATE 
 Report of the Chamberlain 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 81 - 86) 

 
15. INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORTS 
 
 a) Quarterly Monitoring Report to 31 December 2020   
  Report of Mercer 
  

For Information 
 (Pages 87 - 104) 

 
 b) Performance Monitoring to 31 December 2020: Pension Fund   
  Report of the Chamberlain 
  

For Information 
 (Pages 105 - 120) 

 
 c) Performance Monitoring to 31 December 2020: City's Cash and Bridge 

House Estates   
  Report of the Chamberlain 
  

For Information 
 (Pages 121 - 142) 

 
16. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE 
 



 

17. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 
WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 



FINANCIAL INVESTMENT BOARD 
 

Wednesday, 25 November 2020  
 

Minutes of the virtual meeting of the Financial Investment Board held on 
Wednesday, 25 November 2020 at 1.45 pm 

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Nicholas Bensted-Smith (Chairman) 
Henry Colthurst (Deputy Chairman) 
Anne Fairweather 
Alderman Prem Goyal 
Deputy Tom Hoffman 
Alderman Robert Howard 
Deputy Jamie Ingham Clark 
Tim Levene 
Deputy Andrien Meyers 
Deputy Henry Pollard 
James de Sausmarez 
Deputy Philip Woodhouse 
 

 
Officers: 
Joseph Anstee - Town Clerk's Department 

Peter Kane - Chamberlain 

Kate Limna - Chamberlain's Department 

James Graham 
Sarah Phillips 

- Chamberlain's Department 
- Town Clerk’s Department 

 
Also in attendance: 
Deborah Cairney   - Mercer 
 
 
1. APOLOGIES  

Apologies for absence were received from Alderman Robert Hughes-Penney, 
Deputy Clare James and Ian Seaton. 
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
RESOLVED - That the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 23 September 2020 be agreed as a correct record. 
 

4. OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



The Board received a list of outstanding actions. The Board noted that negative 
interest rates were addressed as part of the Mid-Year Treasury Management 
Review. 
 
RESOLVED – That the outstanding actions list be noted. 
 

5. MONTHLY INVESTMENT ANALYSIS REVIEW  
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain concerning the monthly 
investment analysis review for September 2020. The Board noted the current 
investment list, total investment values and average rate of return set out in the 
report. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

6. MID-YEAR TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW  
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain, providing a mid-year report 
reviewing Treasury Management in 2020/21. The Chamberlain introduced the 
report and drew Members’ attention to the key points, advising that recent 
economic events had been taken into account and the Treasury Management 
Strategy was still felt to be appropriate. 
 
The Chamberlain advised that the possibility of negative interest rates had 
been considered as part of the review. Whilst this would impact the 
Corporation’s interest income, it did not necessitate a change to the 
Corporation’s Treasury Management Strategy, and officers were not 
recommending any changes to policy. The Chamberlain then advised the 
Board on local authority lending and controls that were in place such as a 
maximum lending limit, individual counterparty limits and due diligence against 
prospective borrowers.  
 
In response to a question from a Member regarding the recent reduction of 
Public Works Loan Board rates by 1%, the Chamberlain advised that this would 
affect other local authorities more than the City of London Corporation, but 
officers would undertake to assess the possible impact and provide a response 
for Members. In response to a question on negative interest rates, the 
Chamberlain advised that officers had investigated the potential impact of zero 
or negative rates on day-to-day operations and concluded that there would not 
be a significant operational impact. 
 
RESOLVED – That the report be noted. 
 

7. RISK REGISTER FOR FINANCIAL INVESTMENT BOARD  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain reviewing the Financial 
Investment Board’s risk register. The Chamberlain introduced the report and 
advised the Board of two recommended amendments to the risk register. 
 
A Member asked whether the recent announcement of a possible change from 
RPI to CPIH should be considered a risk in respect of the Pension Fund, 
although this wouldn’t come into effect until 2030. The Chamberlain advised 

Page 2



that officers would take this away and consider it alongside the imminent 
speech by the Chancellor. 
 
A Member noted the risk relating to Responsible Investment and commented 
that the risk also encompassed the material risk of the impact of discharging 
relevant obligations on long-term returns. The Chamberlain added that 
conversely, not taking sufficient action was a risk and there were two distinct 
aspects of this risk to be balanced. The Chamberlain suggested reviewing the 
wording of the risk to make this apparent. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Financial Investment Board: 
 

a) Note the existing risks and actions present on the Financial Investment 
Board’s Risk Register, and confirm that appropriate control measures 
are in place; 

 
b) Confirm that there are no further risks relating to the services overseen 

by the Financial Investment Board. 
 

8. PRI FRAMEWORK UPDATE  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain updating Members on the 
new PRI reporting framework, which would apply to the Board’s next annual 
submission to the PRI in March 2021. The Chamberlain introduced the report 
and drew Members’ attention to the key points. Reporting against the new 
framework would begin from Q1 2021 onwards and was expected to be more 
challenging for all signatories.  
 
The Board considered the request for delegated authority to approve the new 
Senior Leadership Statement. The Chairman advised that if the Statement was 
prepared with sufficient time it could be circulated to the full Board for comment 
ahead of final approval. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Financial Investment Board: 
 

a) Note the report; and  
 

b) Delegate authority to Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman of the Financial Investment Board, to approve the 
Senior Leadership Statement as per paragraph 5(b). 

 
9. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

10. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There was no other business. 
 

11. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED - That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds 

Page 3



that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I 
of the Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

Item No.     Paragraph(s) in Schedule 12A 
12 - 17        3 
18 - 19        - 

 
12. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

RESOLVED - That the non-public minutes of the meeting held on 23 
September 2020 be agreed as a correct record. 
 

13. NON-PUBLIC OUTSTANDING ACTIONS  
The Board received a list of non-public outstanding actions. 
 

14. INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORTS  
 

a) Performance Monitoring to 30 September 2020: Pension Fund  
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

b) Performance Monitoring to 30 September 2020: City's Cash and Bridge 
House Estates  
The Board received a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

c) Q3 Monitoring Report  
The Board received a report of Mercer. 
 

15. SIR WILLIAM COXEN TRUST FUND: PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2020  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

16. CMA ORDER 2019 - PART 7 COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: REQUEST FOR 
DELEGATED AUTHORITY  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

17. CHARITIES POOL/HAMPSTEAD HEATH: CHARGING FOR MANAGER 
FEES  
The Board considered a report of the Chamberlain. 
 

18. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE COMMITTEE  
There were no non-public questions. 
 

19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There was other business. 
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 3:05pm. 

Page 4



 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Joseph Anstee 
tel. no.: 020 7332 1480 
joseph.anstee@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Financial Investment Board – Outstanding Actions 
 

 

Item Date Action 
Officer 

responsible 

To be completed/ 
progressed to next 

stage 
Progress Update 

1. 13 July 2020 Risk Register 
Corporate 
Treasurer / 
Town Clerk 

 
Feb 2021 

 
Officers to assess impact for risk of 
possible change from RPI to CPIH 
for the Pension Fund 
 

2. 
25 
November 
2020 

Public Works Loan Board 
Corporate 
Treasurer 

Feb 2021 

Officers to assess the impact of 
recent reduction of PWLB rates by 
1% and circulate advice to Board 
Members if required 

 
 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 8



December 2020

City of London Corporation

Monthly Investment Analysis Review

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 5



Monthly Economic Summary

City of London Corporation

 General Economy

The UK Flash (i.e. provisional) Manufacturing PMI rose to 57.3 in December from 55.6 in November, pointing to the strongest
growth in the manufacturing sector since November 2017 as businesses brought forward orders to guard against potential
disruption caused by the end of the Brexit transition period. The Flash Services PMI, meanwhile, rose to 49.9 in December from
47.6 in November but, by remaining below 50, still signalled a second consecutive month of decline in the sector. Ultimately, the
manufacturing sector’s growth enabled the Flash Composite PMI (which incorporates both sectors), to rise to 50.7 in December
from 49.0 in November. Although the rise was less than market expectations of 51.3, it did suggest that private sector output rose
during the month. The construction PMI, meanwhile, which is released one month behind, rose to 54.7 in November from 53.1 in
October, supported by sharp increases in house building.
Monthly GDP data for October confirmed that the economy grew by 0.4% m/m, less than half the pace of that seen in September’s
0.9% increase. The slower pace of growth reflected the gradual re-imposition of nationwide restrictions as COVID-19 cases began
to climb once again. The reading suggested that growth was already slowing prior to the subsequent introduction of the second
lockdown in November. However, quarterly GDP data confirmed that the economy expanded by a record 16% in the three months
to September, compared to a preliminary estimate of 15.5%, largely reflecting the easing of lockdown restrictions earlier in the
quarter. Nevertheless, this growth still left the UK economy 8.6% smaller than it was in last year’s third quarter. Trade data,
meanwhile, revealed that the UK’s trade surplus fell from £0.61bn in September to a deficit of £1.74 billion in October, as exports
declined by 3.6% on the month while imports rose by 1.2%.
The UK’s unemployment rate rose to 4.9% in the three months to October, compared to 4.8% in the previous period and against
market expectations of a rise to 5.1%. This represented the highest jobless rate since the three months to August 2016, as
employers shed workers as the government’s scheme shifted more of the support onus on firms for furloughed employees.
Although the scheme was extended at month’s end, redundancies still reaching a record 370,000, 56,000 higher than the previous
record in the three months to September. More timely data showed that, after falling in each of the previous two months, the
number of people claiming unemployment benefits in November rose by 64,300 to 2.7 million, 1.4 million higher than in March.
Nevertheless, the continued return of staff from furlough for much of the period saw average weekly earnings (excluding bonuses)
rise by 2.8% y/y in the three months to October - the largest rise since February.
UK inflation, as measured by the Consumer Price Index, dropped to 0.3% y/y in November from 0.7% y/y in October and lower
than market expectations of a fall to 0.6% y/y. The greater than expected fall was largely attributable to increased discounting
during Black Friday sales at month-end. This discounting also contributed to consumer prices falling by 0.1% m/m in November
after a flat reading in October, compared to expectations of a 0.1% rise. Despite CPI inflation falling further away from the Bank of
England’s 2% target, the Monetary Policy Committee unanimously voted to maintain policy rates and its quantitative easing
programme at its December meeting. The prospect of a subsequent “emergency” meeting in January to announce additional
stimulus, which the market postulated might occur in the event of a “no-deal” Brexit, eventually dissipated once the UK signed a
free trade agreement with the EU just prior to month end.
Retail sales, meanwhile, fell 3.8% m/m in November, falling short of market forecasts of a 2.8% contraction and October’s 1.3%

P
age 10



Housing

Both the Halifax and Nationwide house price indices continued to rise, the former by 1.2% m/m during November and the latter by
0.8% m/m during December – which were both up from the respective 0.3% m/m and 0.9% m/m rises witnessed during their prior
months. On an annual basis, the indices have risen 7.6% y/y and 7.3% y/y respectively. Behavioural shifts as a result of COVID-19
may provide support for housing market activity, while the stamp duty holiday is expected to continue to provide a near term boost
by bringing purchases forward.

Currency

The commencement of distribution of COVID-19 vaccines in the UK (which dimmed
the allure of the US Dollar as a safe haven), as well as the agreement of a 
post-Brexit UK-EU trade deal and further loosening of Eurozone monetary policy
resulted in Sterling improving against both the Dollar and the Euro this month. 

Forecast

Both Link Group and Capital Economics have made no change to their interest rate forecasts. Bank Rate is forecast to remain

free trade agreement with the EU just prior to month end.
Retail sales, meanwhile, fell 3.8% m/m in November, falling short of market forecasts of a 2.8% contraction and October’s 1.3%
gain. This marked the first month of falling sales since April, reflecting the imposition of the second national lockdown which forced
non-essential retail stores to close. Despite this, however, retail sales remain 2.4% y/y higher and above their pre-pandemic levels.
Consumer confidence, meanwhile, rose to -26 in December from -33 in November, as the launch of the UK’s COVID-19
vaccination programme boosted sentiment.
Reflecting the impact of public health measures and government policies to support the economy during the coronavirus
pandemic, the UK reported a public sector budget deficit (excluding public sector banks) of £31.6 billion in November, £26.0 billion
more than in November 2019 and the third-highest monthly deficit since records began in 1993. Borrowing in the first eight months
of this financial year is estimated to have been £240.9 billion, a record in any April to November period. Borrowing looks set to
remain elevated following the announcement of further support for the economy this month.
In the US, the imposition of COVID-19 restrictions saw the economy add 245,000 jobs in November, significantly below a
downwardly revised 610,000 jobs in October and some way less than market forecasts of 469,000. Nevertheless, the gain was
sufficient to nudge the US unemployment rate down to 6.7% in November from 6.9% in October, lower than forecasts of 6.8%.
Prices (as measured by the Fed’s preferred core Personal Consumption Expenditure deflator), rose just 1.1% y/y in November
compared to expectations of 1.3% y/y and the Federal Reserve’s 2% average target. Given the state of the economy, it was no
surprise to see the Federal Reserve maintain their current ultra-accommodative monetary policy stance during December’s
meeting. Congress, meanwhile, finally approved an $892bn aid package to support future growth.
The final estimate of Eurozone GDP revealed that the bloc’s economy expanded by 12.5% q/q during Q3, rebounding from the
record 11.8% q/q slump in Q2. However, the rise in December’s Flash Composite PMI to just 49.8 from 45.3 in November –
remaining below the expansion level of 50 – suggests that the bloc contracted again during Q4, as measures to counter rising
coronavirus cases were reintroduced. With prices across the bloc falling by 0.3% y/y in November against this backdrop, the
European Central Bank maintained interest rates at current levels. However, as expected, it increased the size and duration of its

P
age 11



City of London Corporation

Current Investment List Current Investment List

Borrower Principal (£) Interest Rate Start Date Maturity Date
Lowest LT / 

Fund Rating

Historic 

Risk of 

Default

1 USDBF Aberdeen Standard Investments 5,000,000 0.63% USDBF AAAf

1 USDBF Payden Sterling Reserve Fund 55,000,000 1.18% USDBF AAAf

1 USDBF Federated Sterling Cash Plus Fund 25,000,000 0.39% USDBF AAAf

1 Santander UK Plc 50,000,000 0.68% Call A 0.000%

1 Santander UK Plc 30,000,000 0.58% Call A 0.000%

1 Santander UK Plc 20,000,000 0.40% Call A 0.000%

1 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd 90,000,000 0.40% Call A+ 0.000%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 0.53% Call A+ 0.000%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 0.44% Call A+ 0.000%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 0.43% Call A+ 0.000%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 0.43% Call A+ 0.000%

1 MMF Aberdeen Standard Investments 72,400,000 0.01% MMF AAAm

1 MMF CCLA 54,800,000 0.05% MMF AAAm

1 MMF Deutsche 7,600,000 0.01% MMF AAAm

1 MMF Federated Investors (UK) 47,900,000 0.01% MMF AAAm

1 MMF Invesco 84,100,000 0.02% MMF AAAm

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 40,000,000 0.20% Call A+ 0.000%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 10,000,000 1.10% 02/01/2020 04/01/2021 A+ 0.001%

1 Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Ltd 10,000,000 0.98% 06/01/2020 06/01/2021 A+ 0.001%

1 Leeds Building Society 20,000,000 0.30% 14/07/2020 14/01/2021 A- 0.002%

1 Northumberland County Council 5,000,000 1.00% 27/02/2020 25/02/2021 AA- 0.004%

1 Birmingham City Council 15,000,000 1.20% 28/02/2020 26/02/2021 AA- 0.004%

1 Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 15,000,000 1.05% 28/02/2020 26/02/2021 AA- 0.004%

1 Birmingham City Council 10,000,000 1.20% 02/03/2020 01/03/2021 AA- 0.004%

1 Manchester City Council 25,000,000 1.20% 26/03/2020 25/03/2021 AA- 0.005%

1 National Westminster Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 0.42% 03/07/2020 05/07/2021 A 0.025%

1 National Westminster Bank Plc (RFB) 25,000,000 0.27% 07/08/2020 09/08/2021 A 0.029%

1 National Westminster Bank Plc (RFB) 25,000,000 0.26% 14/08/2020 13/08/2021 A 0.030%

1 Skipton Building Society 5,000,000 0.35% 09/09/2020 08/09/2021 BBB+ 0.102%

1 London Borough of Waltham Forest 5,000,000 0.33% 30/09/2020 29/09/2021 AA- 0.018%

1 Goldman Sachs International Bank 20,000,000 0.13% 08/12/2020 08/12/2021 A+ 0.045%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 0.10% 16/12/2020 16/12/2021 A+ 0.046%

1 Lloyds Bank Plc (RFB) 20,000,000 0.10% 29/12/2020 29/12/2021 A+ 0.048%

0 Borrower - Funds Principal (£) Interest Rate Start Date Maturity Date

1 L&G 75,000,000 3.85%

1 ROYAL LONDON 75,000,000 3.54%

1 Total Investments £1,061,800,000 0.86%

0 Total Investments - excluding Funds £911,800,000 0.40% 0.010%

0 Total Investments - Funds Only £150,000,000 3.70%

P
age 12



City of London Corporation

Portfolio Composition by Link Group's Suggested Lending Criteria

Portfolios weighted average risk number = 2.94

WARoR = Weighted Average Rate of Return
WAM = Weighted Average Time to Maturity

% of Colour Amount of % of Call Excluding Calls/MMFs/USDBFs

% of Portfolio Amount in Calls Colour in Calls in Portfolio WARoR WAM WAM at Execution WAM WAM at Execution

Yellow 37.49% £341,800,000 78.06% £266,800,000 29.26% 0.26% 18 80 81 364

Pink1 0.00% £0 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0 0 0

Pink2 9.32% £85,000,000 100.00% £85,000,000 9.32% 0.92% 0 0 0 0

Purple 0.00% £0 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0 0 0

Blue 7.68% £70,000,000 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.31% 212 366 212 366

Orange 10.97% £100,000,000 90.00% £90,000,000 9.87% 0.46% 1 37 6 366

Red 31.81% £290,000,000 75.86% £220,000,000 24.13% 0.42% 73 88 302 365

Green 2.74% £25,000,000 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.31% 61 220 61 220

No Colour 0.00% £0 0.00% £0 0.00% 0.00% 0 0 0 0

100.00% £911,800,000 72.58% £661,800,000 72.58% 0.40% 48 96 175 351

Yellow Yellow Calls Pink1 Pink1 Calls Pink2 Pink2 Calls
Purple Purple Calls Blue Blue Calls Orange Orange Calls
Red Red Calls Green Green Calls No Colour NC Calls

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

Under 1 Month 1-3 Months 3-6 Months 6-9 Months 9-12 Months 12 Months +

Link Group City of London Corporation

Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C

1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7

Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yr Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

P
age 13



City of London Corporation

Investment Risk and Rating Exposure

Rating/Years <1 year 1 to 2 yrs 2 to 3 yrs 3 to 4 yrs 4 to 5 yrs

AA 0.02% 0.04% 0.09% 0.16% 0.24%

A 0.05% 0.15% 0.27% 0.40% 0.55%

BBB 0.15% 0.40% 0.70% 1.05% 1.41%

Council 0.010% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000%

0.010% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000% 0.000%

Historic Risk of Default

-0.20%

0.30%

0.80%

1.30%

1.80%

2.30%

<1 year 1 to 2 yrs 2 to 3 yrs 3 to 4 yrs 4 to 5 yrs

Investment Risk Vs. Rating Categories

AA A BBB Council

A
£170,000,000

19%

A+
£290,000,000

32%

AA-
£75,000,000

8%

AAAf
£85,000,000

9%

AAAm
£266,800,000

29%

A-
£20,000,000

2%

BBB+
£5,000,000

1%

Rating Exposure

Historic Risk of Default
This is a proxy for the average % risk for each investment based on
over 30 years of data provided by Fitch, Moody's and S&P. It simply
provides a calculation of the possibility of average default against the
historical default rates, adjusted for the time period within each year
according to the maturity of the investment.
Chart Relative Risk
This is the authority's risk weightings compared to the average % risk of
default for “AA”, “A” and “BBB” rated investments.
Rating Exposures
This pie chart provides a clear view of your investment exposures to
particular ratings.

Note: An historic risk of default is only provided if a counterparty has a counterparty credit rating and is not provided for an MMF or USDBF, for which the rating agencies provide a
fund rating. The portfolio’s historic risk of default therefore measures the historic risk of default attached only to those investments for which a counterparty has a counterparty credit
rating and also does not include investments which are not rated.

P
age 14



Date
Update 

Number
Institution Country Rating Action

No rating changes to report.

Monthly Credit Rating Changes

FITCH

City of London Corporation

P
age 15



 

Date
Update 

Number
Institution Country Rating Action

01/12/2020 1787 Credit Suisse AG Switzerland
The Long Term Rating was upgraded to 'Aa3' from A1'. At the same time, the Outlook 

was changed to Stable from Positive.

Monthly Credit Rating Changes

MOODY'S

City of London Corporation

P
age 16



Date
Update 

Number
Institution Country Rating Action

No rating changes to report.

Monthly Credit Rating Changes

S&P

City of London Corporation

P
age 17



City of London Corporation

Whilst Link Group makes every effort to ensure that all the information it provides is accurate and complete, it does not guarantee the correctness or the
due receipt of such information and will not be held responsible for any errors therein or omissions arising there from. All information supplied by Link
Group should only be used as a factor to assist in the making of a business decision and should not be used as a sole basis for any decision. The
Client should not regard the advice or information as a substitute for the exercise by the Client of its own judgement.

Link Group is a trading name of Link Treasury Services Limited (registered in England and Wales No. 2652033). Link Treasury Services Limited is
authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority only for conducting advisory and arranging activities in the UK as part of its Treasury
Management Service, FCA register number 150403. Registered office: 6th Floor, 65 Gresham Street, London, EC2V 7NQ.

P
age 18



ANNEX A

MONTHLY INVESTMENT REVIEW AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Couterparty Total Average
Limit Invested as at Rate of

31-Dec-20 Return
£M £M %

TOTAL INVESTED 1,061.8                 0.86%

FIXED TERM DEPOSITS

UK BANKS
Barclays 100.0                      -                       0.00%
Goldman Sachs 100.0                      20.0                     0.00%
Lloyds 150.0                      50.0                     0.30%
NatWest 100.0                      70.0                     0.31%

140.0                   

BUILDING SOCIETIES
Leeds 20.0                        20.0                     0.30%
Skipton 20.0                        5.0                       0.35%

25.0                     

FOREIGN BANKS
Australia & New Zealand 100.0                      10.0                     0.98%

10.0                     

LOCAL AUTHORITIES
Birmingham City Council 25.0                        25.0                     1.20%
London Borough of Waltham forest 25.0                        5.0                       0.33%
Manchester City Council 25.0                        25.0                     1.20%
Northumberland City Council 25.0                        5.0                       1.00%
Stockport City Council 25.0                        15.0                     1.05%

75.0                     

LIQUIDITY FUNDS
Aberdeen SLI Liquidity Fund 100.0                      72.4                     0.01%
CCLA - Public Sector Deposit Fund 100.0                      54.8                     0.05%
Deutsche Global Liquidity Fund 100.0                      7.6                       0.01%
Federated Prime Liquidity Fund 100.0                      47.9                     0.01%
Invesco Sterling Liquidity Fund 100.0                      84.1                     0.02%

266.8                   

ULTRA SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS
Payden Sterling Reserve Fund 100.0                      55.0                     1.18%
Aberdeen SLI Short Duration Fund 100.0                      5.0                       0.63%
Federated Sterling Cash Plus Fund 100.0                      25.0                     0.39%

85.0                     

SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS
L&G 100.0                      75.0                     3.85%
Royal London 100.0                      75.0                     3.54%

150.0                   
NOTICE ACCOUNTS
Australia and New Zealand 185 Days Account 100.0                      90.0                     0.40%
Goldman Sachs 185 Days Account 100.0                      20.0                     0.43%
Goldman Sachs 185 Days Account 100.0                      20.0                     0.43%
Goldman Sachs 185 Days Account 100.0                      20.0                     0.44%
Goldman Sachs 270 Days Account 100.0                      20.0                     0.53%
Lloyds 95 Days Account 150.0                      40.0                     0.20%
Santander 95 Days Account 100.0                      20.0                     0.40%
Santander 180 Days Account 100.0                      30.0                     0.58%
Santander 365 Days Account 100.0                      50.0                     0.68%

310.0                   

TOTAL 1,061.8                 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



ANNEX B

MONTH BY MONTH REPAYMENT PROFILE

Invested as at Average
31-Dec-20 Rate of

£M Return
%

Total 1,061.8            0.86%

Fixed Term Deposits
January 2021 40.0
February 2021 35.0
March 2021 35.0
July 2021 20.0
August 2021 50.0
September 2021 10.0
December 2021 60.0

250.0               0.56%

Money Market Funds 266.8               0.02%
Ultra-Short Dated Bond Fund 85.0                 0.92%
Short-Dated Bond Fund 150.0               3.70%
Notice Accounts
- ANZ 185 Days 90.0                   
- Goldman Sachs 185 Days 60.0                   
- Goldman Sachs 270 Days 20.0                   
- Santander 95 Days 20.0                   
- Santander 180 Days 30.0                   
- Santander 365 Days 50.0                   
- Lloyds 95 Days 40.0                   310.0               0.45%

811.8               

250.0 

310.0 
150.0 

85.0 

266.8 

Invested £1,061.8m

Fixed Term Deposits

Notice Accounts

Short-Dated Bond Fund

Ultra-Short Dated Bond
Fund

Money Market Funds

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



ANNEX C

-0.20
-0.15
-0.10
-0.05
0.00
0.05
0.10
0.15
0.20
0.25
0.30
0.35
0.40
0.45
0.50
0.55
0.60
0.65
0.70
0.75
0.80
0.85
0.90
0.95
1.00
1.05
1.10
1.15
1.20
1.25
1.30
1.35
1.40
1.45
1.50

Treasury Portfolio Weighted Average Rate of Return (WARoR) vs. Benchmarks

Bank Rate 3M LIBID 6M LIBID WARoR (Exc SDBFs) WARoR (Inc SDBFs)

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 24



Committee: Date: 

Financial Investment Board 9 February 2021 

Subject: 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual 
Investment Strategy 2021/22 

Public 
 

Report of: 
The Chamberlain 

For Decision 
 

Report author: 
James Graham – Chamberlain’s Department 

 
Summary 

 
The attached document sets out the City’s Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement and Annual Investment Strategy (TMSS) for 2021/22.  The Treasury 
Management Strategy and Annual Investment Statement for 2021/22 has been 
updated taking account of the latest information concerning the organisation’s 
capital plans and external factors, such as the prospects for interest rates.   

The document includes various Treasury and Prudential Indicators required to 
be set for the City Fund to ensure that the City’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable and to help the organisation identify and 
control the risks around its treasury management activity.   

As has historically been the case, this report covers the treasury management 
activity carried out across the organisation, including in respect of City’s Cash 
and Bridge House Estates. As City’s Cash borrowing is not covered by the 
regulatory framework established for local authorities, the City has adopted its 
own formal policy in 2018/19 via the City’s Cash Borrowing Policy Statement 
which is included in the TMSS at Appendix 8. 

The main proposals within the document are incorporated within the separate 
report entitled “City Fund - 2021 Budget Report” being considered by the Finance 
Committee on 16 February 2021 and by the Court of Common Council on 4 
March 2021.   

Responsibility for approving the City’s borrowing plans remains with the Court of 
Common Council, not the Financial Investment Board.  

The key areas to highlight are: 

Capital financing and borrowing 

• The Corporation’s capital plans create a borrowing requirement across both 
the City Fund and City’s Cash. City’s Cash has addressed this borrowing 
requirement through the issuance of £450m market debt during 2018/19, 
£200m of which will be received in 2021/22.  

• The City Fund borrowing requirement is expected to increase to £299.1m by 
2023/24. For the City Fund, there is no immediate requirement to take on 
external borrowing in the upcoming year as in the near term, external 
borrowing would serve to increase cash balances. Furthermore, new 
borrowing would create additional revenue pressures through a “cost of 
carry”, as the rate payable on external borrowing is higher than the interest 
receivable from treasury management investment activity. Therefore, the 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



proposed treasury management strategy recommends that the City Fund 
borrowing requirement is managed through the prudent use of internal 
resources during 2021/22.  

• The benefits of this strategy (lower financing costs and reduced counterparty 
risk) need to be carefully evaluated against the risk of incurring higher 
borrowing costs in future. The interest rate environment is judged to be 
sufficiently benign in the near term to accommodate an internal borrowing 
approach. Interest rates are monitored daily and should circumstances 
change, the Chamberlain will maintain the flexibility to meet some or all of 
the City Fund borrowing requirement through external borrowing. As such 
the operational boundary and authorised limit for external debt (Appendix 2 
of the TMSS) have been revised to enable the City to secure external debt 
to meet some or all of the borrowing requirement. 

• In October 2019, the Government raised the interest rate payable by local 
authorities on new loans from the PWLB by 1% and commenced a 
consultation on the future of the PWLB’s lending arrangements. The review 
concluded in November 2020 and the Government removed the previous 1% 
increase in rates for new loans. At the same time new controls were 
introduced (with immediate effect) with the aim of preventing the practice of 
“borrowing for yield”. Local authorities will now need to submit a high-level 
description of capital spending for the next three years and the s151 officer 
will need to confirm that the authority has no intention of buying investment 
assets primarily for yield at any time in next three years. These conditions 
apply regardless of whether transactions would notionally be financed from 
a source other than the PWLB. 

• Local authorities are legally required to set aside a prudent amount for the 
provision of the repayment of prudential borrowing from revenue each year. 
It should be noted that this requirement applies for all unfunded City Fund 
capital expenditure (i.e. spending that is not immediately financed through 
capital grants, capital receipts etc.) not just for actual external borrowing. The 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement for 2021/22 sets out 
this policy for the forthcoming year and is included at Appendix 2 in the 
TMSS. 

Investments 

• As at 31 December 2020, the Corporation has cash balances totalling 
£1,061.8m.  Cash is expected to increase in 2021/22 when the Corporation 
takes receipt of second tranche of City’s Cash loan proceeds.  However, 
most of the treasury cash balances pertain to the City Fund and comprise of 
liabilities on City Fund’s balance sheet (cash that needs to be paid out to 
third parties or used for a specific purpose at some point in the future) 
together with cash backed reserves.  

• The Corporation’s creditworthiness policy (as set out in section 8.2. of the 
main report) ensures that cash deposits are only placed with counterparties 
of suitable credit standing. Officers have reviewed the current limits and 
recommend changing the minimum threshold for banks from “A” to “A-”. The 
rationale for this change is to ensure the Corporation can continue diversify 
credit risk sufficiently in the possible event of wide-ranging ratings actions 

Page 26



next year. However, to keep lending limits in line with Corporation’s risk 
appetite, officers also recommend introducing a tiered approach to financial 
institutions as shown in Table 1, which will ensure that longer and larger 
deposits are restricted to only the highest quality counterparties. This 
information is excerpted from section 8.4. of the main report. 

Table 1: Proposed Time and Monetary Limits for Banks 

  Minimum 
Creditworthiness Criteria 

Money 

Limit 

Time  

Limit 

Banks 1 higher 
quality 

Fitch Rating 

Long Term: A+ 

Short Term: F1 

£100m 3 years 

Banks 1 
medium quality 

Fitch Long Term Rating 

Long Term: A 

Short Term: F1 

£75m 1 year 

Banks 1 lower 
quality 

Fitch Long Term Rating 

Long Term: A- 

Short Term: F1 

£50m 6 months 

 

• Officers have also reviewed the country limits within the strategy (as set out 
in section 8.5.) and recommend that the minimum acceptable threshold is 
reduced from “AAA” to “AA+”.  As above, this will mean that the approved 
lending list will remain broad enough if any AAA sovereign ratings are 
downgraded by one notch.  

• As agreed by the Board at its meeting on 23 September 2020, a formal 
overall limit of £250m will apply to outstanding loans to UK local authorities. 
This is in addition to the existing limit of £25m for each individual local 
authority borrower. This policy is set out in section 8.6. of the main report. 
The Chamberlain also conducts additional due diligence on an individual 
prospective local authority borrower prior to committing to any loans. 

• The Corporation currently manages significant cash balances, the size of 
which is expected to reduce over the next few years in line with the 
Corporation’s capital expenditure and financing plans.  Notwithstanding this, 
officers anticipate that a layer of core cash will be consistently stable based 
on the current capital financing plans which may provide an opportunity to 
invest a proportion of the Corporation’s cash balances on a longer term 
basis. Before embarking on any change in strategy the Board will need to 
conduct appropriate due diligence and consider varies important issues, 
including the following: 

a) Ensuring the Corporation continually maintains sufficient liquidity within 
its treasury management operations to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. 

b) Understanding the level of volatility in investment returns that the 
Corporation can tolerate. 

Page 27



c) Understanding the risk and return characteristics of any new investment 
category proposed for inclusion in the Treasury Management Strategy. 

d) Understanding the appropriate accounting treatment of investment 
returns from any proposed new investment category under the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 

Officers intend to investigate the issues and report back to the Board in 
2021/22 with advice on the viability of investing some funds on a longer term 
basis.  

The main changes to the document from last year’s version are highlighted in yellow 
and underlined. 

Recommendations 

It is recommended that the Financial Investment Board reviews and approves 
the attached Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy for 2021/22, and submits it to the Finance Committee and the Court of 
Common Council as part of the City Fund – 2021 Budget Report for formal 
adoption. 

Annex 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2021/22 

James Graham 

Group Accountant – Pensions & Treasury Management 
T:  020 7332 1137 
E: James.Graham@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

Page 28

mailto:James.Graham@cityoflondon.gov.uk


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY STATEMENT 

 
 

AND 
 
 

ANNUAL INVESTMENT 
STRATEGY 

 
2021/22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Issue Date: 09/02/2021 
Agreed by Court of Common Council: XX/XX/XXXX 

 

Page 29



 

1 

 

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy 2021/22 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1. Background 
 

The City of London Corporation (the City) is required to operate a balanced budget, 
which broadly means that cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  
Part of the treasury management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is 
adequately planned, with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies 
are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the City’s 
low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment 
return.   
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of 
capital expenditure plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing 
needs of the City, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the 
organisation can meet its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-
term cash may involve arranging long or short-term loans, or using longer-term cash 
flow surpluses. On occasion, when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously 
drawn may be restructured to meet risk or cost objectives. 
 
Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising 
usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury 
management activities. 
 

1.2. The Treasury Management Policy Statement 
 

The City defines its treasury management activities as: 
 

The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transaction; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks. 
 

The City regards the security of its financial investments through the successful 
identification, monitoring and control of risk to be the prime criteria by which the 
effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be measured.  Accordingly, 
the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their risk 
implications for the organisation, and any financial instruments entered into to 
manage these risks. 
 
The City acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives.  It is therefore 
committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management 
and to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, 
within the context of effective risk management. 
 
 
 

Page 30



 

2 

 

1.3. CIPFA Requirements 
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management (revised November 2009) was adopted by the 
Court of Common Council (the Court) on 3 March 2010. The Code of Practice was 
revised in November 2017. 
 
The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 
 
(i) The City of London Corporation will create and maintain, as the cornerstones 

for effective treasury management: 
 

• A treasury management policy statement, stating the policies, objectives 
and approach to risk management of its treasury management activities 

• Suitable treasury management practices (TMPs), setting out the manner 
in which the organisation will seek to achieve those policies and 
objectives, and prescribing how it will manage and control those activities. 

 
(ii) This organisation (i.e. the Court of Common Council) will receive reports on 

its treasury management policies, practices and activities, including as a 
minimum an annual strategy and plan in advance of the year, a mid-year 
review and an annual report after its close. 

 
(iii) The Court of Common Council delegates responsibility for the implementation 

and regular monitoring of its treasury management policies to the Finance 
Committee and the Financial Investment Board; the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions is delegated to the 
Chamberlain, who will act in accordance with the organisation’s policy 
statement and TMPs and, if he/she is a CIPFA member, CIPFA’s Standard 
of Professional Practice on Treasury Management. 

 
(iv) The Court of Common Council nominates the Audit and Risk Management 

Committee to be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury 
management strategy and policies. 

 
The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local 
authorities to prepare a capital strategy. The capital strategy provides a high-level 
long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services as well as an overview 
of how the associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 
sustainability. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is reported separately 
form the Capital Strategy. This ensures the separation of the core treasury function 
under security, liquidity and yield principles from the policy and commercial 
investments usually driven by expenditure on an asset. 
 

1.4. Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22 

The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations require the 
City to ‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice to set Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the next 
three years to ensure that the City’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent 
and sustainable. The City’s Prudential Indicators are set in its annual Budget Report 

Page 31



 

3 

 

and Medium-Term Financial Strategy, while Treasury Indicators are established in 
this report (Appendix 2).  
 
The Act requires the Court of Common Council to set out its treasury strategy for 
borrowing (section 7 of this report) and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy 
(section 8 of this report). The Investment Strategy sets out the City’s policies for 
managing its investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those 
investments.  
 
The suggested strategy for 2021/22 in respect of the required aspects of the treasury 
management function is based upon the treasury officers’ views on interest rates, 
supplemented with leading market forecasts provided by the City’s treasury adviser, 
Link Asset Services, Treasury Solutions.   
 
The strategy covers: 
 

• the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators 

• the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy 

• the current treasury position 

• treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the City 

• prospects for interest rates 

• the borrowing strategy 

• policy on borrowing in advance of need 

• debt rescheduling 

• the investment strategy 

• creditworthiness policy 

• policy on use of external service providers. 
 

These elements cover the requirements of the local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, the MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code and the MHCLG Investment Guidance. 

 
2. Capital Expenditure Plans and Prudential Indicators 

 
The City’s capital expenditure plans are a key driver of treasury management 
activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist Members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans. 
 
The City’s capital expenditure plans in respect of its local authority functions (the 
City Fund) are detailed in the 2021/22 Budget Report and Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy, which also contains the City’s Prudential Indicators.  The Prudential 
Indicators summarise the City Fund’s annual capital expenditure and financing plans 
for the medium term. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



 

4 

 

2.1. Estimate of Capital Expenditure and Financing (City Fund) 
 

 Table 1 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Capital 
Expenditure: 

     

Non-HRA 41.9  93.0  180.0  201.3  232.5  

HRA 10.8  30.9  65.1  32.4  -    

Total 52.7  123.9  245.1  233.7  232.5  

      

Financed by:      

Capital grants 17.0  48.6  75.1  52.9  38.5  

Capital 
reserves 

18.3  50.7  65.7  5.8  127.4  

Revenue 17.4  24.6  43.5  35.4  27.6  

Total 52.7  123.9  184.3  94.1  193.5  

      

Net financing 
need: 

-    -    60.8  139.6  39.0  

 
The Prudential Indicators also establish the City Fund’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. 
It is essentially a measure of the City Fund’s indebtedness and so its underlying 
borrowing need.  Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been 
paid for through a revenue or capital resource (the net financing need in Table 1), 
will increase the CFR.   
 

2.2. Estimate of the Capital Financing Requirement (City Fund) 
 

 Table 2 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Non-HRA 45.3 64.9 104.8 232.1 270.9 

HRA 0 0 19.2 29.8 28.2 

Total 45.3 64.9 124.0 261.9 299.1 

 

2.3. Minimum Revenue Provision (City Fund) 
 
The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) 
is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line 
with each asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets 
as they are used. The City’s MRP Policy is detailed in Appendix 2. 
 

2.4. City’s Cash 
 
As with the City Fund, any capital expenditure incurred by City’s Cash which has not 
immediately been paid for through a revenue or capital resource, will increase the 

Page 33



 

5 

 

City’s Cash borrowing requirement. Table 3 summarises the planned City’s Cash 
borrowing over the next few years.   
 

2.5. City’s Cash Borrowing 
 

 Table 3 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Borrowing  £250m £250m £450m £450m £450m 

 
As with the MRP for the City Fund, borrowing for City’s Cash will be reduced 
gradually over time through the application of a debt financing reserve as set out in 
the City’s Cash Borrowing Policy Statement (Appendix 8). 
 

3. Current Portfolio Position 
 
The City’s treasury portfolio position at 31 December 2020 comprised: 
 

Treasury Portfolio 

 Actual Actual Current Current 

 31/03/20 31/03/20 31/12/20 31/12/20 

Treasury investments £m % £m % 

Banks £475.5 47% £460.0 44% 

Building societies 
(rated) 

£28.4 3% £25.0 2% 

Local authorities £111.0 11% £75.0 7% 

Liquidity funds £184.8 18% £266.8 25% 

Ultra-short dated bond 
funds 

£65.0 6% £85.0 8% 

Short dated bond funds £150.0 15% £150.0 14% 

Total treasury 
investments 

£1,014.7 100% £1,061.8 100% 

     

Treasury external 
borrowing 

    

Long term market debt 
(City’s Cash) 

£250.0 100% £250.0 100% 

Total external 
borrowing 

£250.0 100% £250.0 100% 

The overall weighted average rate of return on investments was 0.83% as at 31 
December 2020 compared to 0.63% as at 31 March 2020. 

 
4. Treasury Indicators for 2021/22 – 2023/24 

 
Treasury Indicators (as set out in Appendix 2) are relevant for the purposes of setting 
an integrated treasury management strategy.   

 
5. Prospects for Interest Rates 

 

Page 34



 

6 

 

The City of London has appointed Link Asset Services (Link) as its treasury advisor 
and part of their service is to assist the City to formulate a view on interest rates.  
Appendix 1 draws together a number of forecasts for both short term (Bank Rate – 
also known as “the Bank of England base rate”) and longer term interest rates.  The 
following table and accompanying text below gives the Link central view. 
 

 Bank Rate 
% 

PWLB Borrowing Rates % 
(including certainty rate adjustment) 

  5 year 10 years 25 year 50 year 

Mar 2021 0.10 0.80 1.10 1.50 1.30 

Jun 2021 0.10 0.80 1.10 1.60 1.40 

Sep 2021 0.10 0.80 1.10 1.60 1.40 

Dec 2021 0.10 0.80 1.10 1.60 1.40 

Mar 2022 0.10 0.90 1.20 1.60 1.40 
Jun 2022 0.10 0.90 1.20 1.70 1.50 

Sep 2022 0.10 0.90 1.20 1.70 1.50 
Dec 2022 0.10 0.90 1.20 1.70 1.50 

Mar 2023 0.10 0.90 1.20 1.70 1.50 

Jun 2023 0.10 1.00 1.30 1.80 1.60 

Sep 2023 0.10 1.00 1.30 1.80 1.60 
Dec 2023 0.10 1.00 1.30 1.80 1.60 
Mar 2024 0.10 1.00 1.30 1.80 1.60 

 
The Coronavirus outbreak has had a highly significant impact on the UK economy 
and economies around the world. The Bank of England took emergency action in 
March 2020 to reduce Bank Rate to 0.25% and then to 0.10%; the Governor of the 
Bank of England has made it clear that negative rates will do more damage than 
good and quantitative easing is favoured instead. The forecasts above show that no 
increase in Bank Rate is expected as the economic recovery is expected to be 
gradual and therefore prolonged.  

Gilt yields spiked during March and since have fallen sharply to unprecedented lows 
as investors moved into safe haven assets. However major western central banks 
took rapid action and started quantitative easing purchases of government bonds. 
This acted by putting downward pressure on government bond yields at a time when 
there has been a huge and quick expansion of government expenditure financed by 
issuing government bonds. Such unprecedented levels of issuance in “normal” times 
would have caused bond yields to rise sharply.  Gilt yields and PWLB rates have 
been at remarkably low rates so far during 2020/21. 

As shown above there is expected to be little upward movement in PWLB rates over 
the next two years as it will take economies a prolonged period to recover all the 
momentum they have lost in the sharp recession caused during the coronavirus shut 
down period. From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject 
to exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging 
market developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment, (as shown on 9th 
November when the first results of a successful COVID-19 vaccine trial were 
announced). Such volatility could occur at any time during the forecast period. 

  

Page 35



 

7 

 

Investment and borrowing rates 
 

• Investment returns are likely to remain exceptionally low during 2021/22 with 
little increase in following two years.  

• Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a result of the COVID 
crisis and the quantitative easing operations of the Bank of England. Borrowing 
rates have also been impacted by changes in Government policy. In October 
2019, the Government increased the margin above Gilts that is used to set 
PWLB lending rates by 1%. The Government consulted on the future lending 
arrangements of the PWLB in 2020 and following the conclusion of the 
consultation the margin above gilts applied to new loans was reduced by 1%, 
restoring the status quo ante. However, alongside this change, a new prohibition 
was introduced on using PWLB borrowing to fund commercial investments: any 
local authority whose capital programme for the following three years includes 
plans to purchase assets for yield is now unable to borrow from the PWLB, with 
effect from 26 November 2020. 

• Because borrowing rates are expected to be higher than investment rates, any 
new borrowing undertaken by the City will have a “cost of carry” (the difference 
between higher borrowing costs and low investment returns) which will cause a 
temporary increase in cash balances and will most likely incur a revenue cost.  

6. Interest Rate Exposure 
 

The City is required to set out how it intends to manage interest rate exposure. 
 
This organisation will manage its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a 
view to containing its interest costs, or securing its interest revenues, in accordance 
with the amounts provided in its budgetary arrangements and management 
information arrangements.  
 
It will achieve this by the prudent use of its approved instruments, methods and 
techniques, primarily to create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at 
the same time retaining a sufficient degree of flexibility to take advantage of 
unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the level or structure of interest 
rates.  

7. Borrowing Strategy  
 
The borrowing strategy is developed from the capital plans and prospect for interest 
rates outlined in sections 2 and 5 above, respectively.  
 
For both the City Fund and City’s Cash, the capital expenditure plans create 
borrowing requirements and the borrowing strategy aims to make sure that sufficient 
cash is available to ensure the delivery of the City’s capital programme as planned. 
 
The City can choose to manage the borrowing requirements through obtaining 
external debt from a variety of sources; through the temporary use of its own cash 
resources (“internal borrowing”); or via a combination of these methods. 

  

Page 36



 

8 

 

7.1. City Fund 
 
The City Fund has a positive Capital Financing Requirement, and this is expected 
to grow in the next few years (see table 2 above). As the City Fund currently has no 
external debt, it is therefore maintaining an under-borrowed position which is 
forecast to increase if the City Fund does not acquire external debt.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need is being managed within internal resources, i.e. cash 
supporting the City Fund’s reserves, balances and cash flow is being used as a 
temporary measure. This strategy is prudent because it helps the City Fund to 
minimise borrowing costs in the near term and because it leads to lower investment 
balances which reduces counterparty risk. Against these advantages the City is 
conscious of the increased exposure to interest rate risk that is inherent in internal 
borrowing (i.e. the risk that the City Fund will need to replace internal borrowing with 
external borrowing in the future when interest rates are high). 

 
Therefore, against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, 
caution will be adopted with the 2020/21 treasury operations. The Chamberlain will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances. For example, 
 

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short 
term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession 
or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowing will be postponed. 

 

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long and 
short term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an 
acceleration in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an 
increase in world economic activity, or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then 
the portfolio position will be re-appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding will be 
drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the next 
few years. 

 
Any decisions will be reported to the Finance Committee and the Court of Common 
Council at the next available opportunity. 
 
The City must set two treasury indicators representing the upper limits for the total 
amount of external debt for City Fund. These limits are required under the Prudential 
Code in order to ensure borrowing is affordable and is consistent with the City Fund’s 
capital expenditure requirements. 

 

• The operational boundary for external debt should represent the most likely 
scenario for external borrowing. It is acceptable for actual borrowing to deviate 
from this estimate from time to time. The proposed limit is set to mirror the 
estimated CFR for the forthcoming year and the following two years. 

 

• The authorised limit for external debt is the maximum threshold for external 
debt for over 2021/22, 2022/23 and 2023/24. This limit is required by the Local 
Government Act 2003 and is set above the operational boundary to ensure that 
the City is not restricted in the event of a debt restructuring opportunity. 

 
The proposed limits for 2021/22 are set out in Appendix 2. 
 

Page 37



 

9 

 

The City is also required to set a treasury indicator in respect of the maturity structure 
of external debt to ensure that the external debt portfolio remains appropriately 
balanced over the long term. Under the revised Treasury Management Code of 
Practice, the City is required to set limit for all borrowing (i.e. both fixed rate and 
variable debt), and the proposed limits are detailed in Appendix 2. 

7.2. City’s Cash 
 

The capital expenditure plans for City’s Cash also create a borrowing requirement. 
City’s Cash has issued fixed rate market debt totalling £450m to fund its capital 
programme. Of this total, £250m was received in 2019/20 and the remaining £200m 
will be received in 2021/22. It is not anticipated that any new external borrowing will 
be acquired by City’s Cash in 2021/22. However, the Chamberlain will keep this 
position under review and in doing so will have regard for liquidity requirements, 
interest rate risk and the implications for the revenue budget. 
 
The regulatory framework established through the CIPFA professional codes and 
MHCLG guidance pertains to the City’s local authority function, the City Fund. To 
facilitate effective management of the City’s Cash borrowing requirement, this 
organisation has adopted the City’s Cash Borrowing Policy Statement (Appendix 8), 
which sets out the principles for effectively managing the risks arising from borrowing 
on behalf of City’s Cash. Under this framework, the City has resolved to establish 
two further treasury indicators, which will help the organisation to ensure its 
borrowing plans remain prudent, affordable and sustainable: 

 

• Estimates of financing costs to net revenue stream. This indicator is given as 
a percentage and establishes the amount of the City’s Cash net revenue that is 
used to service borrowing costs.  

• Overall borrowing limits. This indicator represents an upper limit for external 
debt which officers cannot exceed.  

 
The proposed indictors for 2021/22 are set out in Appendix 2 alongside the City 
Fund treasury indicators. 

7.3. Policy on borrowing in advance of need  
 
The City will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance 
will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates and will 
be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and 
that the City can ensure the security of such funds.  

7.4. Debt rescheduling 

 
The City does not anticipate any debt rescheduling in the near term. However, 
should any opportunities for debt rescheduling arise (through a decrease in 
borrowing rates, for instance), such cases will need to be considered in the context 
of the current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt repayment (i.e. any 
penalties incurred).  
 
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:  

• the generation of cash savings and / or discounted cash flow savings; 

Page 38



 

10 

 

• helping to fulfil the treasury strategy; 

• enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the 
balance of volatility). 

 
All rescheduling will be reported to the Court of Common Council, at the earliest 
meeting following its action. 

7.5. Sources of borrowing 
 
Historically, the main source of borrowing for UK local authorities has been the 
PWLB. Any new loans issued by the PWLB are subject to the PWLB’s revised 
lending arrangements with effect from 26 November 2020.  Currently the PWLB 
Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for new loans.  Local authorities have 
recourse to other sources of external borrowing including financial institutions, other 
local authorities and the Municipal Bonds Agency.  

8. Annual Investment Strategy 

8.1. Investment Policy 
 
The City of London’s investment policy will have regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance 
on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”), the revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectorial Guidance 
Notes 2017 (“the CIPFA TM Code”) and CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance 
Notes 2018.   
 
The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both 
financial and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with financial 
investments, (as managed by the treasury management team).  Non-financial 
investments, (e.g. commercial property), are covered in the Capital Strategy, (a 
separate report). 
 
The City’s investment priorities are: 
  
(a) security;  and  

 
(b) liquidity.  
 
The City will also aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. The risk appetite of the 
City is low in order to give priority to the security of its investments. 
 
The borrowing of monies purely to invest or on-lend and make a return is unlawful 
and the City will not engage in such activity. 
 
In accordance with the above guidance from the MHCLG  and CIPFA, and in order 
to minimise the risk to investments, the City applies minimum acceptable credit 
criteria in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also 
enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings 
used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and Long Term ratings. 
 

Page 39



 

11 

 

Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is important 
to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro 
basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions 
operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 
opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration, the City will engage with its 
advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and 
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.  
 
Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other 
such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most 
robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in Appendix 
3 under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments categories. 
 

• Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and 
subject to a maturity limit of one year. 
 

• Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be 
for periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments 
which require greater consideration by members and officers before being 
authorised for use. Once an investment is classed as non-specified, it 
remains non-specified all the way through to maturity i.e. an 18-month 
deposit would still be non-specified even if it has only 11 months left until 
maturity. 

 
The City will also set a limit for the amount of its investments which are invested for 
longer than 365 days (see Appendix 2). 

8.2. Creditworthiness policy  
 
The primary principle governing the City’s investment criteria is the security of its 
investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key 
consideration.  After this main principle, the City will ensure that: 
 

• It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it will invest 
in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and 
monitoring their security. 
 

• It has sufficient liquidity in its investments.  For this purpose it will set out 
procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds may prudently 
be committed.  These procedures also apply to the City’s prudential indicators 
covering the maximum principal sums invested. 
 

The Chamberlain will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the following 
criteria and will revise these criteria and submit them to the Financial Investment 
Board for approval as necessary.  These criteria are separate to those which 
determine which types of investment instruments are classified as either specified 
or non-specified as it provides an overall pool of counterparties considered high 
quality which the City may use, rather than defining what types of investment 
instruments are to be used. 
 

Page 40



 

12 

 

Regular meetings are held involving the Chamberlain, the Deputy Chamberlain, 
Corporate Treasurer and members of the Treasury team, where the suitability of 
prospective counterparties and the optimum duration for lending is discussed and 
agreed.  
 
Credit rating information is supplied by Link Asset Services, our treasury advisors, 
on all active counterparties that comply with the criteria below.  Any counterparty 
failing to meet the criteria would be omitted from the counterparty (dealing) list.  Any 
rating changes, rating Watches (notification of a likely change), rating Outlooks 
(notification of a possible longer-term bias outside the central rating view) are 
provided to officers almost immediately after they occur and this information is 
considered before dealing.  For instance, a negative rating Watch applying to a 
counterparty would result in a temporary suspension, which will be reviewed in light 
of market conditions.   
 
All credit ratings will be monitored daily. The City is alerted to credit warnings and 
changes to ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness 
service.  
 
The criteria for providing a pool of high quality investment counterparties (both 
specified and non-specified investments) are: 
 

• Banks 1 – good credit quality – the City will only use banks which: 
 
(i) are UK banks; and/or 
(ii) are non-UK and domiciled in a country which has a minimum sovereign long-

term rating of AA+ (Fitch rating)  
 

and have, as a minimum the following Fitch, credit rating: 
 
(i) Short-term – F1 
(ii) Long-term – A- 

 

• Banks 2 – Part nationalised UK banks – Royal Bank of Scotland ring-fenced 
operations.  This bank can be included if it continues to be part nationalised, or 
it meets the ratings in Banks 1 above. 
 

• Banks 3 – The City’s own banker (Lloyds Banking Group) for transactional 
purposes and if the bank falls below the above criteria, although in this case, 
balances will be minimised in both monetary size and duration. 

 

• Bank subsidiary and treasury operation -   The City will use these where the 
parent bank has provided an appropriate guarantee or has the necessary ratings 
outlined above.  This criteria is particularly relevant to City Re Limited, the City’s 
Captive insurance company, which deposits funds with bank subsidiaries in 
Guernsey. 

 

• Building Societies – The City may use all societies which: 
 

(i) have assets in excess of £10bn; or 
(ii) meet the ratings for banks outlined above 
 

Page 41



 

13 

 

• Money Market Funds (MMFs) Constant Net Asset Value (CNAV)* – with 
minimum credit ratings of AAA/mmf 
 

• Money Market Funds (MMFs) Low-Volatility Net Asset Value (LVNAV)* – with 
minimum credit ratings of AAA/mmf 

 

• Money Market Funds (MMFs) Variable Net Asset Value (VNAV)* – with 
minimum credit ratings of AAA/mmf 

 

• Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit rating of at least AAA/f (previously 
referred to as Enhanced Cash Plus Funds) 

 

• Short Dated Bond Fund – These funds typically do not obtain their own 
standalone credit rating. The funds will invest in a wide array of investment grade 
instruments, the City will undertake all necessary due diligence to ensure a 
minimum credit quality across the funds underlying composition is set out within 
initial Investment Manager Agreements and actively monitor the on-going credit 
quality of any fund invested. 

 

• UK Government – including government gilts and the debt management agency 
deposit facility. 

 

• Local authorities 
 

A limit of £500m will be applied to the use of non-specified investments. 
*European Money Market Reform. Under EU money market reforms implemented 
in 2018/19, three new classifications of money market funds have been created: 

• Constant Net Asset Value (“CNAV”) MMFs – must invest 99.5% of their 
assets into government debt instruments and are permitted to maintain a 
constant net asset value. 

• Low Volatility Net Asset Value (“LVNAV”) MMFs – permitted to maintain a 
constant dealing net asset value provided that certain criteria are met, 
including that the market net asset value of the fund does not deviate from 
the dealing net asset value by more than 20 basis points. 

Variable Net Asset Value (“VNAV”) MMFs – price assets using market pricing and 
therefore offer a fluctuating dealing net asset value 
 

8.3. Use of additional information other than credit ratings.  
 

Additional requirements under the Code require the City to supplement credit rating 
information.  Whilst the above criteria relies primarily on the application of credit 
ratings to provide a pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to use, additional 
operational market information will be applied before making any specific investment 
decision from the agreed pool of counterparties.  This additional market information 
(for example Credit Default Swaps, negative rating Watches/Outlooks) will be 
applied to compare the relative security of differing investment counterparties 
 

8.4. Time and monetary limits applying to investments.  
 
The time and monetary limits for institutions on the Council’s counterparty list are as 
follows (these will cover both specified and non-specified investments): 

Page 42



 

14 

 

 
  Minimum Creditworthiness 

Criteria 
Money 

Limit 

Time  

Limit 

Banks 1 higher quality Fitch Rating 

Long Term: A+ 

Short Term: F1 

£100m 3 years 

Banks 1 medium quality Fitch Long Term Rating 

Long Term: A 

Short Term: F1 

£100m 1 year 

Banks 1 lower quality Fitch Long Term Rating 

Long Term: A- 

Short Term: F1 

£50m 6 months 

Banks 2 – part 
nationalised 

N/A £100m 3 years 

Banks 3 – City’s banker 
(transactions only, and if 
bank falls below above 
criteria) 

N/A £150m 1 working 
day 

Building Societies 
higher quality 

Fitch Long Term Rating A or 
assets of £150bn 

£100m 3 years 

Building Societies 
medium quality 

Fitch Long Term Rating A- or 
assets of £10bn 

£20m 1 year 

UK Government 
(DMADF, Treasury Bills, 
Gilts) 

UK sovereign rating unlimited 3 years 

Local authorities N/A £25m 3 years 

External Funds* Fund rating Money 
and/or % 

Limit 

Time 

Limit 

Money Market Funds 
CNAV 

AAA £100m liquid 

Money Market Funds 
LVNAV 

AAA £100m liquid 

Money Market Funds 
VNAV 

AAA £100m liquid 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond 
Funds 

AAA £100m liquid 

Short Dated Bond Funds N/A £100m liquid 

 
*An overall limit of £100m for each fund manager will also apply. 

 
A list of suitable counterparties conforming to this creditworthiness criteria is 
provided at Appendix 4. The Chamberlain will review eligible counterparties prior to 

Page 43



 

15 

 

inclusion on the approved counterparty list and will monitor the continuing suitability 
of existing approved counterparties. 

 
8.5. Country limits 

 
The City has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from countries 
with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA+ (Fitch) or equivalent.  The country 
limits list, as shown in Appendix 5, will be added to or deducted from by officers 
should individual country ratings change in accordance with this policy.  The UK 
(which is currently rated as AA-) will be excluded from this stipulated minimum 
sovereign rating requirement.  

8.6. Local authority limits 

The City will place deposits up to a maximum of £25m with individual local 
authorities. In addition the City imposes an overall limit of £250m for outstanding 
lending to local authorities as a whole at any given time. Although the overall credit 
standing of the local authority sector is considered high, officers perform additional 
due diligence on individual prospective local authority borrowers prior to entering 
into any lending. 

8.7. Investment Strategy 

In-house funds:  The City’s in-house managed funds are both cash-flow derived 
and also represented by core balances which can be made available for investment 
over a longer period.  Investments will accordingly be made with reference to the 
core balance and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest 
rates (i.e. rates for investments up to 12 months). Where cash sums can be identified 
that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained from longer term 
investments will be carefully assessed.  

Investment returns expectations:  Bank Rate is unlikely to rise from 0.10% for a 
considerable period given underlying economic expectations.  In these 
circumstances it is likely that investment earnings from money market-related 
instruments will be below 0.50% for the foreseeable future. Bank Rate forecasts for 
financial year ends (March) are: 
 

• 2020/21 0.10% 

• 2021/22 0.10% 

• 2022/23 0.10% 

• 2023/24 0.10% 

• 2024/25 0.25% 

The Bank of England has effectively ruled out the use of negative interest rates in 
the near term and increases in Bank Rate are likely to be some years away given 
the underlying economic expectations.  
  

Page 44



 

16 

 

8.8. Investment Treasury Indicator and Limit  

 
Total principal funds invested for greater than 365 days are subject to a limit, set 
with regard to the City’s liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for an early 
sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after each year end. 
The Board is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: 
 

Maximum principal sums invested for more than 365 days (up to three years) 

 2020/21 
£M 

2021/22 
£M 

2022/23 
£M 

Principal sums invested >365 days 500 500 500 

8.9. Investment performance benchmarking 

 
The City will monitor investment performance against Bank Rate and 3- and 6-month 
London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID). The City is appreciative that the provision of 
LIBOR and associated LIBID rates is expected to cease at the end of 2021. It will 
work with its advisors in determining suitable replacement investment benchmark(s) 
ahead of this cessation and will report back to Members accordingly. 

8.10. End of year investment report 

 
At the end of the financial year, the City will report on its investment activity as part 
of its Annual Treasury Report.  

8.11. External fund managers 

 
A proportion of the City’s funds, amounting to £501.8m as at 31 December 2020, 
are externally managed on a discretionary basis by the following fund managers: 
 

• Aberdeen Standard Investments 

• CCLA Investment Management Limited 

• Deutsche Asset Management (UK) Limited 

• Federated Investors (UK) LLP 

• Invesco Global Asset Management Limited  

• Legal and General Investment Management 

• Payden & Rygel Global Limited 

• Royal London Asset Management   
 

The City’s external fund managers will comply with the Annual Investment Strategy, 
and the agreements between the City and the fund managers additionally stipulate 
guidelines and duration and other limits in order to contain and control risk.  
 
The credit criteria to be used for the selection of the Money Market fund manager(s) 
is based on Fitch Ratings and is AAA/mmf.  The Ultra-Short Dated Bond Fund 
managers (including the Payden & Rygel Sterling Reserve Fund, Federated Sterling 
Cash Plus Fund and Aberdeen Standard Liquidity Fund (Lux) Short Duration Sterling 
Fund) are all rated by Standard and Poor’s as AAA. 
 

Page 45



 

17 

 

The City also uses two Short Dated Bond Funds managed by Legal and General 
Investment Management and Royal London Asset Management. Both funds are 
unrated (as is typical of these instruments). The funds offer significant diversification 
by being invested in a wide range of investment grade instruments, rated BBB and 
above and limiting exposure to any one debt issuer or issuance. 
 

9. Policy on the use of external service providers 
 
The City uses Link Asset Services, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury 
management advisers. 
 
The City recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains 
with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed 
upon its external service providers.  
 
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. 
The City will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which 
their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented and subjected to 
regular review.  
 

10. Scheme of Delegation 
 
Please see Appendix 6. 
 

11. Role of the Section 151 officer 
 
Please see Appendix 7. 
 

12. Training 
 
The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that Members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management.  The training needs of members and treasury management officers 
are periodically reviewed. Training was most recently undertaken by Members in 
February 2019.   

 

APPENDICES  

1. Interest Rate Forecasts 2021-2024 
 

2. Treasury Indicators 2021/22 – 2023/24 and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Statement 

 
3. Treasury Management Practice (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty Risk 

Management  
 
4. Current Approved Counterparties  
 
5. Approved Countries for Investments 

 
6. Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation 

Page 46



 

18 

 

 
7. The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer 

 
8. City’s Cash Borrowing Policy Statement 
 

  

Page 47



 

19 

 

APPENDIX 1 
LINK INTEREST RATE FORECASTS 2021 – 2024 

 

  
Note: The current PWLB rates and forecast shown above have taken into account the 20 basis point certainty rate reduction effective since 1st 

November 2012.  

Link Group Interest Rate View  9.11.20

These Link forecasts have been amended for the reduction in PWLB margins by 1.0% from 26.11.20

Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24

BANK RATE 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  3 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

  6 month ave earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

12 month ave earnings 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20 0.20

5 yr   PWLB 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

10 yr PWLB 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

25 yr PWLB 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.80

50 yr PWLB 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60

P
age 48



 

20 

 

APPENDIX  2  

TREASURY INDICATORS 2021/22 – 2023/24 AND MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION 
STATEMENT 

TABLE 1:  TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT  INDICATORS  

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

 actual 
probable 
outturn  

estimate estimate estimate 

 £m £m £m £m £m 

Authorised Limit for external 
debt (City Fund) -  

     
 

 Borrowing 145.3    164.9               224.0  361.0  399.1  
 other long-term liabilities 13.8  13.7  13.5  13.4  12.2  

 TOTAL 113.8 178.6 237.5 375.3 411.3 

       
Operational Boundary for 
external debt (City Fund) -  

    
 

 Borrowing 45.3    64.9               124.0  261.0  299.1  
 other long-term liabilities 13.8  13.7  13.5  13.4  12.2  

 TOTAL 13.8 78.6 137.5 275.3 311.3 

       
Actual external debt (City Fund)* 0 0    
      

Upper limit for total principal 
sums invested for over 365 days 

£300m £500m £500m £500m £500m 

 (per maturity date)      

*Actual external debt at the end of the financial year 
 

TABLE 2: Maturity structure of borrowing during 
2020/21 

upper limit lower limit 

- under 12 months  50% 0% 

- 12 months and within 24 months 50% 0% 

- 24 months and within 5 years 50% 0% 

- 5 years and within 10 years 75% 0% 

- 10 years and above 100% 0% 

   

 

TABLE 3:  CITY’S CASH 
BORROWING INDICATORS  

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

 actual 
probable 
outturn  

estimate estimate estimate 

 % % % % % 

Estimates of financing costs to 
net revenue stream 

 
5.1% 

 
6.8% 11.1% 12.0% 10.9% 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

 
Overall borrowing limits 
 

125 250 250 450 450 

Page 49



 

21 

 

MINIMUM REVENUE PROVISION (MRP) POLICY STATEMENT 2021/22 
 
To ensure that capital expenditure funded by borrowing is ultimately financed, the City Fund 
is required to make a Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) when the Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) is positive. A positive CFR is indicative of an underlying need to borrow 
and will arise when capital expenditure is funded by ‘borrowing’, either external (loans from 
third parties) or internal (use of cash balances held by the City Fund).   
 
MHCLG regulations have been issued which require the Court of Common Council to approve 
an MRP Statement in advance of each year. The regulatory guidance recommends four 
options for local authorities. Options 1 and 2 relate to government supported borrowing prior 
to 2008. As the City Fund does not have any outstanding borrowing from this period, these 
options are not relevant. For any prudential borrowing undertaken after 2008, options 3 and 
4 apply:  
 

• Option 3: Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the 
assets, in accordance with the regulations (this option must be applied for any 
expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction); 

• Option 4: Depreciation method – MRP will follow standard depreciation 
accounting procedures; 

 
For any new borrowing under the prudential financing system, the City Fund will apply the 
asset life method over the useful economic life of the relevant assets. However, as loan 
repayments will commence in advance of the assets becoming operational, additional 
provision will be made in the early years so that MRP is at least equal to the amount of the 
loan principal repaid. This option provides for a reduction in the borrowing need over the 
approximate life of the assets. 
 
As in previous years, the City will continue to apply a separate MRP policy for that portion of 
the CFR which has arisen through the funding of capital expenditure from cash received from 
long lease premiums which are deferred in accordance with accounting standards. This 
deferred income is released to revenue over the life of the leases to which it relates, typically 
between 125 and 250 years.  
 
The City’s MRP policy in respect of this form of internal borrowing is based on a mechanism 
to ensure that the deferred income used to finance capital expenditure is not then ‘used again’ 
when it is released to revenue.  The amount of the annual MRP is therefore to be equal to the 
amount of the deferred income released, resulting in an overall neutral impact on the bottom 
line.  
 
MRP will fall due in the year following the one in which the expenditure is incurred, or the year 
after the asset becomes operational. 
 
The MRP liability for 2020/21 is £1.1m and is estimated at £1.1m for 2021/22. 
 

Page 50



 

22 

 

APPENDIX 3 
 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMP 1) –  Credit  and Counterparty Risk 
Management   
 
SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: All such investments will be sterling denominated, with maturities 
up to maximum of 1 year, meeting the minimum ‘high’ quality criteria where appropriate. 
 

 
 Minimum ‘High’ 
Credit Criteria 

Use 

Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility -- In-house 

Term deposits – local authorities   -- In-house 

Term deposits – banks and building societies, 
including part nationalised banks 
 

Short-term F1, Long-
term A-,  

In-house via Fund 
Managers 

Money Market Funds CNAV  AAA/mmf   (or 
equivalent) 

In-house via Fund 
Managers 

Money Market Funds LVNAV  AAA/mmf   (or 
equivalent) 

In-house via Fund 
Managers 

Money Market Funds VNAV  AAA/mmf   (or 
equivalent) 

In-house via Fund 
Managers 

Ultra-Short Dated Bond Fund AAA/f (or equivalent) 
In-house via Fund 
Managers 

UK Government Gilts UK Sovereign Rating 
In-house & Fund 
Managers 

Treasury Bills 
 

UK Sovereign Rating 
In-house & Fund 
Managers 

Sovereign Bond issues (other than the UK 
government) 

AA+ Fund Managers 

 
  

Page 51



 

23 

 

 
NON-SPECIFIED INVESTMENTS: These are any investments which do not meet the Specified 
Investment criteria.  A maximum of £500m will be held in aggregate in non-specified investment. 

A variety of investment instruments will be used, subject to the credit quality of the institution, and 
depending on the type of investment made it will fall into one of the  categories set out below.  

 Minimum 
Credit 

Criteria 

Use Maximum Maximum 
Maturity 
Period 

Term deposits – other LAs 
(with maturities in excess 
of one year) 

- In-house £25m per 
LA 

Three 
years 

Term deposits, including 
callable deposits – banks 
and building societies (with 
maturities in excess of one 
year) 

Long-term 
A+, 

Short-term 
F1, 

 

In-house 
and Fund 
Managers 

£300m 
overall 

Three 
years 

Certificates of deposits 
issued by banks and building 
societies with maturities in 
excess of one year 

Long-term 
A+, 

Short-term 
F1, 

 

In-house on a 
buy-and-hold 

basis and fund 
managers 

£50m 
overall 

Three 
years 

UK Government Gilts with 
maturities in excess of one 
year 

AA- In-house on a 
buy-and-hold 

basis and fund 
managers 

£50m 
overall 

Three 
years 

UK Index Linked Gilts AA- In-house on a 
buy-and-hold 

basis and fund 
managers 

£50m 
Overall 

Three 
years 

Short Dated Bond Funds -- 
In-house via Fund 

Managers 
£100m per 

Fund 
n/a* 

 
*Short Dated Bonds Funds are buy and hold investments with no pre-determined maturity at 
time of funding, liquidity access is typically T + 3 or 4.  

Page 52



 

24 

 

APPENDIX 4 
 APPROVED COUNTERPARTIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 
 

 
UK BANKS AND THEIR WHOLLY OWNED SUBSIDIARIES  

 

FITCH 
RATINGS 

BANK* 
LIMIT 
PER 

GROUP 
DURATION 

 
A+ 
A+ 

 

 
F1 
F1 

 

 
Barclays Bank PLC (NRFB) 

Barclays Bank UK PLC (RFB) 
 

 
£100M 

 

 
Up to 3 
years 

 

A+ F1 Goldman Sachs International Bank £100M 
Up to 3 
years 

AA F1+ Handelsbanken PLC £100m 
Up to 3 
years 

 
AA- 
AA- 

 

F1+ 
F1+ 

HSBC (RFB) 
HSBC (NRFB) 

£100M 
Up to 3 
years 

 
A+ 
A+ 
A+ 

 

F1 
F1 
F1 

Lloyds Bank Corporate Markets PLC (NRFB) 
Lloyds Bank PLC (RFB) 

Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB) 
£150M 

Up to 3 
years 

 
A+ 
A+ 
A+ 

 

F1 
F1 
F1 

NatWest Markets PLC (NRFB) 
National Westminster Bank PLC (RFB) 

Royal Bank of Scotland PLC (RFB) 
£100M 

Up to 3 
years 

A+ F1 Santander UK PLC (RFB) £100M 
Up to 3 
years 

 
*Under the ring-fencing initiative, the largest UK banks are now legally required to separate 
the core retail business into a ring-fenced bank (RFB) and to house their complex 
investment activities into a non-ring-fenced bank (NRFB).  

 
BUILDING SOCIETIES 

 

FITCH 
RATINGS 

BUILDING SOCIETY ASSETS 
LIMIT PER 

GROUP 
DURATION 

A F1 Nationwide £260Bn £100M Up to 3 years 

A- F1 Yorkshire £44Bn £20M Up to 1 year 

A- F1 Coventry £50Bn £20M Up to 1 year 

A- F1 Skipton £25Bn £20M Up to 1 year 

A- F1 Leeds £21Bn £20M Up to 1 year 

Page 53



 

25 

 

 
FOREIGN BANKS 

(with a presence in London) 
 

FITCH 
RATINGS 

COUNTRY AND BANK 
LIMIT PER 

GROUP 
DURATION 

 
 

A+ 
 
 

A+ 

 
 

F1 
 
 

F1 

AUSTRALIA (AAA) 
 

Australia and New Zealand Banking 
Group Ltd 

 
National Australia Bank Ltd 

 
 

£100M 
 
 

£100M 

 
 
 

Up to 3 years 
 
 

Up to 3 years 
 

 
 

AA- 
 

AA 
 

AA- 

 
 
F1+ 
 
F1+ 
 
F1+ 

 
CANADA (AA+) 

 
Bank of Montreal 

 
Royal Bank of Canada 

 
Toronto-Dominion Bank 

 

 
 
 

£100M 
 

£100M 
 

£100M 
 

 
 

 
Up to 3 years 

 
Up to 3 years 

 
Up to 3 years 

 

 
 

A+ 

 
 

F1+ 

 
GERMANY (AAA) 

 
Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen 

Girozentrale 
 

 
 
 

£100M 
 

 
 
 

Up to 3 years 
 

 
 

A+ 

 
 

F1 

 
NETHERLANDS (AAA) 

 
Cooperatieve Rabobank U.A. 

 

 
 
 

£100M 
 

 
 
 

Up to 3 years 
 

 
 

AA- 
 

AA- 

 
 
 
F1+ 

 
F1+ 

 

 
SINGAPORE (AAA) 

 
DBS Bank Ltd. 

 
United Overseas Bank Ltd. 

 

 
 

£100M 
 

£100M 

 
 

Up to 3 years 
 

Up to 3 years 

 
 
 

AA- 
 

AA 
 

A+ 
 

 
 
 
F1+ 
 
F1 
 
F1+ 

 

 
SWEDEN (AAA) 

 
Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 

 
Swedbank AB 

 
Svenska Handelsbanken 

 

 
 
 

£100M 
 

£100M 
 

£100M 
 

 
 

 
Up to 3 years 

 
Up to 3 years 

 
Up to 3 years 

 

 
 

Page 54



 

26 

 

MONEY MARKET FUNDS 
 

 
 

 

FITCH 
RATINGS 

MONEY MARKET FUNDS 

Limit of £100M per fund 

DURATION 

AAA/mmf CCLA Liquid 

AAA/mmf Federated Short-Term Sterling Prime Fund* Liquid 

AAA/mmf Aberdeen Sterling Liquidity Fund Liquid 

AAA/mmf Invesco Liquid 

AAA/mmf 
Deutsche Liquidity Fund 

 
Liquid 

 
ULTRA SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS 

 

FITCH 
RATINGS 

 (or equivalent) 

ULTRA SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS 

Limit of £100M per fund 

DURATION 

AAA/f Payden Sterling Reserve Fund 
 

Liquid 

AAA/f Federated Sterling Cash Plus Fund* 
 

Liquid 

AAA/f Aberdeen Standard Investments Short Duration 
Managed Liquidity Fund** 

 

Liquid 

 
*A combined limit of £100m applies to balances across the Money Market Fund 
and Ultra Short Dated Bond Fund both managed by Federated and Aberdeen 
Standard 

 
SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS 

 

FITCH 
RATINGS 

 (or equivalent) 

SHORT DATED BOND FUNDS 

Limit of £100M per fund 

DURATION 

 
- 
 

 
Legal and General Short Dated Sterling 

Corporate Bond Index Fund 
 

Liquid 

 
- 
 

Royal London Investment Grade Short Dated 
Credit Fund 

Liquid 

 
 

Page 55



 

27 

 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES 
 

LIMIT OF £25M PER 
AUTHORITY AND £250M 

OVERALL 

 
Any UK local authority 

 

 
 

  

Page 56



 

28 

 

APPENDIX 5 

APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENT 

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AAA and AA+ as at 
11 January 2021. 

AAA 

• Australia 

• Denmark 

• Germany 

• Netherlands 

• Singapore 

• Sweden 

• Switzerland 

• United States 
 

AA+ 

• Canada 

• Finland 

AA- 

• United Kingdom 

  

Page 57



 

29 

 

APPENDIX 6  

TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

The roles of the various bodies of the City of London Corporation with regard to treasury 
management are: 

(i) Court of Common Council 

• Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and 
activities 

• Approval of annual strategy. 

(ii) Financial Investment Board and Finance Committee 

• Approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statement and treasury management practices 

• Budget consideration and approval 

• Approval of the division of responsibilities 

• Receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations 

• Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment. 

(iii) Audit & Risk Management Committee 

• Reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the responsible body. 

  

Page 58



 

30 

 

APPENDIX 7 
 
THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER 
 
The Chamberlain 

• Recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance 

• Submitting regular treasury management policy reports 

• Submitting budgets and budget variations 

• Receiving and reviewing management information reports 

• Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function 

• Ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function 

• Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit 

• Recommending the appointment of external service providers.  

 

 

Page 59



 

31 

 

APPENDIX 8 
 
CITY’S CASH BORROWING POLICY STATEMENT  
 
1.  The City Corporation shall ensure that all of its City’s Cash capital expenditure, investments 

and borrowing decisions are prudent and sustainable. In doing so, it will take into account 
its arrangements for the repayment of debt and consideration of risk and the impact, and 
potential impact, on the overall fiscal sustainability of City’s Cash.  

2.  Borrowing shall be undertaken on an affordable basis and total capital investment must 
remain within sustainable limits. When assessing the affordability of its City’s Cash 
investment plans, the City Corporation will consider both the City’s Cash resources currently 
available and its estimated future resources, together with the totality of its City’s Cash 
capital plans, income and expenditure forecasts.  

3.  To ensure that the benefits of capital expenditure are matched against the costs, a debt 
financing reserve will be established.  

4.  To the greatest extent possible, expected finance costs arising from borrowing are matched 
against appropriate revenue income streams.  

5.  The City Corporation will organise its borrowing on behalf of City’s Cash in such a way as 
to ensure that financing is available when required to manage liquidity risk (i.e. to make sure 
that funds are in place to meet payments for capital expenditure on a timely basis). The City 
Corporation will only borrow in advance of need on behalf of City’s Cash on the basis of a 
sound financial case (for instance, to mitigate exposure to rising interest rates).  

6.  The City Corporation will ensure debt is appropriately profiled to mitigate refinancing risk.  

7.  The City Corporation will monitor the sensitivity of liabilities to inflation and will manage 
inflation risks in the context of the inflation exposures across City’s Cash (e.g. the City 
Corporation will be mindful of the potential impact of index-linked borrowing on the financial 
position of City’s Cash).  

8.  The City Corporation will seek to obtain value for money in identifying appropriate borrowing 
for City’s Cash. Where internal borrowing (i.e. from City Fund or Bridge House Estates) is 
used as a source of funding, the City Corporation will keep under review the elevated risk 
of refinancing.  

9.  All borrowing is expected to be drawn in Sterling. Where debt is raised in foreign currencies, 
the City Corporation will consider suitable measures for mitigating the risks presented by 
fluctuation in exchange rates.  

10. Interest rate movement exposure will be managed prudently, balancing cost against likely 
financial impact.  

11. The City Corporation will maintain the following indicators which relate to City’s Cash 
borrowing only:  

• Estimates of financing costs to net revenue stream  

• Overall borrowing limits  

 

Page 60



Committee(s): 
Financial Investment Board 

Dated: 
9th February 2021 

Subject: Report of Action Taken  Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

 
 
 
As set out in the full report 
presented for delegated 
decision 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

If so, how much? 

What is the source of Funding? 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

Report of: Town Clerk For Information  

Report author: Joseph Anstee 
 
 

Summary 
 

This report advises Members of an action taken by the Town Clerk since the last 
meeting of the Committee, in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chair, in 
accordance with Standing Order Nos. 41(b). These actions related to: 
 

CMA ORDER 2019 – PART 7 COMPLIANCE STATEMENT: INVESTMENT 
CONULTANT STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES (LGPS ONLY) 

 
Recommendation 

 
Members are asked to note the report. 
 

Main report 
 

21 December 2020 
 

1. The Financial Investment Board is required to review the performance of its 
investment consultancy provider against their objectives at least annually. At 
the 25 November 2020 Financial Investment Board meeting, Members agreed 
to delegate authority to the Town Clerk in consultation with the Chairman and 
Deputy Chairman of the Financial Investment Board to confirm the outcome of 
the review and for the Chairman to sign the compliance statement so that it 
can be submitted to the Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) before 7 
January 2021. 

 
2. Subsequently, the Chamberlain submitted a report updating on the 

performance of the Investment Consultant (Mercer Ltd) against the aims and 
objectives set and approved by the Financial Investment Board at their 
meeting on 29 November 2019. Officers concluded that the Investment 
Consultant has achieved a Green rating for six of the seven objectives, and 
an Amber rating for one objective. The full review of performance against 
each objective was included as an appendix to the report. 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



Action Taken 
 
The Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chairman and Deputy Chairman, agreed to 
note the outcome of the review, and that the Chairman of the Financial Investment 
Board should sign the Compliance Statement. 
 
 

Contact: 
Joseph Anstee 
Senior Committee and Services Officer, Town Clerk’s Department 
020 7332 1480 

Page 62



Document is Restricted

Page 63

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 69

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 81

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 83

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

Agenda Item 15a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 105

Agenda Item 15b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 121

Agenda Item 15c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Outstanding Actions
	5 Monthly Investment Analysis Review
	1a. Annex A
	1b. Annex B
	1c. Annex C

	6 Treasury Management Strategy 2021/22
	2b. Treasury Mgmt Strategy Statement Annual Investment Strategy 2021-22 (Final)

	7 Report of Action Taken
	11 Non-public minutes of the previous meeting
	12 Non-Public Outstanding Actions
	13 Progress Update on Mobilisation for the Climate Action Strategy
	14 Responsible Investment Policy Update
	4b. RI Policy Updated FINAL

	15a Quarterly Monitoring Report to 31 December 2020
	15b Performance Monitoring to 31 December 2020: Pension Fund
	15c Performance Monitoring to 31 December 2020: City's Cash and Bridge House Estates



